IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01013

STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

GLORIA F. REFFALT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR.

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

M. CHANNING POWELL ATTORNEY AT LAW 1915 23RD AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 4253 GULFPORT, MS 39502-4253 (228) 864-5321 MS BAR NG

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01013

STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

GLORIA F. REFFALT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED GLORIA D. REFFALT TO PRESENT PAROL EVIDENCE OF STEPHEN D. REFFALT'S SOCIAL SECURITY TO SHOW THE INTENT OF THE PARTIES REGARDING THE PROVISION OF THEIR PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT DIVIDING STEPHEN D. REFFALT'S MARTIN MARIETTA RETIREMENT.
- II. THE PARTIES' PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO THE PROPERTY SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT REGARDING STEPHEN'S MARTIN MARIETTA RETIREMENT WAS A VALID UNAMBIGUOUS CONTRACT AND THE COURT ERRED BY REWRITING THEIR AGREEMENT.
 - A. The Parties' Property Settlement Agreement Incorporated into the Judgment of Divorce is a Binding Court Approved Contract Between the Parties.
 - B. The Agreement is Clear and Unambiguous; Therefore, the Chancellor Must Enforce the Terms as Written.
 - C. The Chancellor erred by reforming the contract.
 - D. The Chancellor erred by Modifying the Agreement.
- III. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DID NOT ALLOW EVIDENCE AT THE MOTION TO RECONSIDER.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR., will be herein after referred to as Stephen and Appellee, GLORIA F. REFFALT, will herein after be referred to as Gloria. Cites in this Brief to "RE.", refer to the Record Excerpts of Appellant, cites to "CP." refer to the Clerk's Papers in the Court file in the Chancery Court, cites to "SCP." refer to the Supplemental Clerk's Papers from the Chancery Court file, cites to "T." refer to the Record Transcript from the Chancery Court and cites to "E." refer to the Exhibits at trial.

A. <u>COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN COURT</u> <u>BELOW.</u>

Stephen filed his Complaint for Modification on December 2, 2008, seeking to have the Court clarify the parties' Property Settlement Agreement which discussed his Martin Marietta Retirement. (SCP.1, RE.10). The Lower Court found that Stephen's Complaint can be interpreted as a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment for the purpose of interpreting that which the parties have an issue.(T.6, RE.70). The Court further said it would agree that the parties could try the Complaint to interpret the previous Judgment between the parties regarding the Martin Marietta Retirement. (T.6-7, RE.70-71). Stephen alleged that he was paying more than one-half of his Martin Marietta Retirement to Gloria. Stephen alleged that the Property Settlement Agreement stated that he would pay one-half of his Martin Marietta Retirement to Gloria and they each would be responsible for their own taxes. Further, Stephen requested the Court give him credit for overpayments of retirement that he had made to Gloria and give a Judgment for

1 .

the amounts overpaid. (SCP.3-6, RE.12-15). Gloria filed her Answer and Counterclaim on or about January 20, 2009. (SCP.22). The case proceeded to trial on February 12, 2009, and the Court rendered its ruling from the bench. (T. 84-89, RE.89-94). The Court interpreted the Property Settlement Agreement to be that a sum certain was payable to Gloria each month in the amount of \$1,594.64 from Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement. Although this is more than one-half of Stephen's retirement, the Court found that to be the intentions of the parties. A Judgment was filed with the Court on May 7, 2009. (CP. 37-38, RE. 31-32). Stephen filed his Motion to Reconsider Judgment on May 15, 2009. (CP. 39-50). A hearing was held on the Motion to Reconsider on April 16, 2010. After the hearing, the Court stated it would reserve its opinion and look at the case and give its ruling. (T.110-111, RE.97-98). On June 4, 2010, the Court rendered its Order on Motion to Reconsider May 7, 2009, Judgment. (CP.51-53, RE.33-35). In its Order of June 4, 2010, the Court granted part of the Motion to Reconsider in regards to the Profit Sharing Plan, but denied Stephen any relief regarding his Martin Marietta Retirement. Feeling aggrieved, Stephen appeals to this Court.

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>

÷.

i

Stephen and Gloria were once husband and wife but were divorced by the Decree of the Chancery Court of Hancock County, Mississippi filed June 22, 1993. (CP. 13-14, RE.38-39). The Decree incorporated the Property Settlement Agreement of the parties filed on August 12, 1992 (CP.4-9, RE.19-24) and the Amendment to the Property Settlement Agreement (CP.10-12, RE.25-27). In the parties' Property Settlement Agreement (CP.4-9, RE.19-24) the parties divided all of their assets

3

equally. That is to say they divided their assets one-half. That included all of the retirement which had been earned by Stephen. Gloria received one-half of Stephen's assets. One of the assets was Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement. That was addressed in Paragraph 10 of the Property Settlement Agreement (CP.6, T.19, RE.74). This Property Settlement Agreement was drafted by Gloria. (T.23, RE.76). The provision regarding Martin Marietta discussed that the parties had agreed to accept Level B Income as Stephen's retirement. In fact, the parties had signed an application so that Stephen could receive his retirement. (E.7, RE.60). Because Stephen was married, his Wife was required to agree with him regarding the provision for his retirement. Both parties signed the document and had their signature notarized. This document was signed on April 16, 1992. It provided for a level income option of retirement. The level income option would start with one amount and would later be reduced at the earliest date Stephen would be eligible for Social Security. The amounts would remain level until Stephen was eligible for Social Security then the amount would be decreased and would remain level until his death. (E.7, RE. 60). The parties could have chosen one of the other options which would have provided survivor's benefits or a guaranteed period option or other provisions, but they chose the option of level income so that they could receive the most money. (T.64, RE.85). The Application for Retirement Benefits, Exhibit 7, was signed on April 16, 1992. The Property Settlement Agreement was signed on April 22, 1992. The parties knew and cited in Paragraph 10 of the Property Settlement Agreement that Stephen would be receiving level D income as the monthly benefit option. (CP.6, RE.42) The Property Settlement Agreement was amended on January 7, 1993.

í.

: 1

f

Again, the Amendment which was drafted by Gloria or her attorney, provided that the parties had accepted D level income as the monthly benefit option for Stephen's Martin Marietta retirement. (CP.10, RE.46) In the Amendment to the Property Settlement Agreement, the parties stated that Stephen would be receiving approximate monthly retirement of \$3,189.26. That was a different amount than was originally stated in the Property Settlement Agreement. Stephen had received a letter from Martin Marietta stating what the amount of his monthly retirement and what it would be changing to the month after he became age 62. (E.8, RE.61). The exact amount that Stephen would be receiving was \$3,189.26. It would remain in effect until June 1, 1995. That is the month after Stephen turned age 62 on May 11, 1995. As further stated in the Amendment, the parties agreed that the purpose of the Amendment is strictly for the clarification of the tax responsibilities of the parties. As a result, the parties agreed that the division of the retirement would be considered as alimony for tax purposes and each party would pay their taxes on the portion they received. The Amendment and the Property Settlement Agreement provided that each party would receive one-half of Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement. The relevant portion of paragraph 10 of the Amendment is as follows:

> The parties have agreed to accept #D-Level Income as the monthly benefit option. This plan will provide the Husband a monthly income of approximately \$3,189.26. The Husband will remit to the Wife one-half of this income, being the approximate amount of \$1,594.63, on the first day of each month to the Wife commencing on January 1, 1993. These monies will be considered alimony and the Wife will be responsible for her Federal and State tax liability. The Husband can then claim as a tax deduction these alimony payments. The payments will be terminated only by the death of either the Husband or the

Wife. Both parties intend that the duration of payments will not be effected by the remarriage of either spouse. The parties agree that these terms are irrevocable and may not be modified by a Court of Law in the future.

Petition to Amendment for Joint Complaint for Divorce, paragraph 10 (CP.10, RE. 46).

There was never a discussion of the parties' social security in the Property Settlement Agreement. The only discussion regarding Social Security was that the parties agreed that when they accepted the Level D income option retirement from Martin Marietta that the retirement would decrease on the earliest date that Stephen was able to receive Social Security. (T.64, RE.85). That clearly was the highest payout available to the parties. The document which Stephen sought to introduce at the hearing on the Motion to Reconsider would have clarified the matters for the Court, but the Court refused to allow it into evidence. (E.1 for id., RE.67). The Court could have allowed the document into evidence under Rule 59, the rule under which Stephen filed his Motion to Reconsider. That document is Exhibit 1 for identification to the hearing on April 16, 2010. (RE.67). Stephen testified that the parties chose the retirement with the highest payout. (T.64, RE.85). This chosen retirement had the highest payout even though it would be reduced when Stephen first became eligible for Social Security. The parties divided their assets by one-half to each. They divided the Martin Marietta Retirement one-half each. Gloria drafted the Property Settlement Agreement and made a provision in the Property Settlement Agreement which referenced the retirement option that the parties chose. (T. 23, RE.76). Gloria testified that paragraph 10 was about the division of the Martin Marietta Retirement.

(T.19, RE.74). No where in the Property Settlement Agreement is there any reference to Stephen's Social Security Retirement being paid to Gloria.

A hearing was held where the Court allowed Gloria to give testimony about Stephen's Social Security over the objection of Counsel for Stephen. The Court allowed parol evidence when there had been no discussion of any ambiguity in the contracts. In fact, the Court in its findings never found that there was an ambiguity in the contract. The Court made its interpretation regarding Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement based on the testimony of Gloria. There is not one word in any provision of the Property Settlement Agreement and the Amendment to the Property Settlement regarding the Social Security of Stephen, or Gloria for that matter.

After the hearing on April 12, 2009, the Court modified the Property Settlement Agreement of the parties so that Gloria would continue to receive the same amount she had been receiving which is \$1,594.63. Stephen's Martin Marietta retirement that he currently receives and has been receiving since June 1, 1995, is \$2,272.26 per month. If he pays \$1,594.63 to Gloria each month, he is paying her over 70% of his Martin Marietta Retirement. Surely the parties never anticipated such a result. The Property Settlement Agreement states that Stephen will pay Gloria one-half of his retirement income.

Paragraph 12 of the Property Settlement Agreement provided that the parties would divide Stephen's Performance Sharing Plan (PSP) jointly and equally. (CP. 6, RE.42). The parties selected a 20 year payout on the PSP. Sometime in 1992 or 1993 Stephen took out all of the PSP. (T.71, RE.87). Gloria knew that Stephen took out all of the PSP at that time. (T.47, RE.82). In fact the parties' 1992 tax return shows

÷

į

;

7

that the retirement was taken out in 1992. Gloria signed this tax return. (E.4, RE.49). As early as 1996, Stephen had taken all of the PSP and it was all gone and none would be paid to Gloria. (T.49, RE.83). Stephen's testimony is that he kept paying more on the retirement than he had to because he was paying the PSP to Gloria that he owed her. (T. 66, RE.86). Stephen made a calculation regarding how much PSP was owed to Gloria. (E.17, RE.65). At the time of the trial, Stephen's calculations show that he overpaid Gloria by \$18,893.84. (T.73, RE.88; E.17, RE.65).

Stephen's testimony was that he had no discussions with Gloria regarding paying any of his Social Security to her. His understanding was that his Social Security was his and that he would make no claim to Gloria's Social Security. (T.66, RE.86). Further, Stephen testified that the level income option that they took for Stephen's retirement was the best option with the highest payout in the early years of their retirement and it would give them the maximum amount of money over the shortest years of time. (T.64, RE.85). In fact, Stephen and Gloria discussed the fact that the Martin Marietta would decrease when he first became eligible for Social Security. (T.64, RE.85). When Stephen tried to reduce the Martin Marietta Retirement that he was paying to Gloria to one-half, he received letters from her attorney stating that he would be in contempt if he made such a reduction. (E. 12 and 13, RE. 62-64). Stephen filed his Motion and a hearing was conducted in which the Court found that Gloria should continue to receive the amount that Stephen had been paying. Stephen filed a Motion to Reconsider and the Court granted the portion of the Motion regarding Stephen having paid the PSP in full and denied any

÷.

i

1

-

ł

i

reconsideration of the amount of Martin Marietta Retirement to be paid to Gloria. It was from the Court's Judgments that Stephen appealed. (CP. 54, RE.36).

The facts as stated above may seem to be somewhat complex. The facts are really simple. Both Stephen and Gloria signed an application for Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement. They selected an option that would pay a certain amount until Stephen first became eligible for Social Security. The option they chose provided for a level income to be received until the earliest date that Stephen was eligible for Social Security, then to be reduced and level income to be received until his death. Both parties signed that document and it was notarized on April 16, 1992. (E.7, RE.60). The parties signed their Property Settlement Agreement on April 22, 1992, and referenced that option they chose for Stephen's retirement and stated they would each receive one-half. There was a tax computation where Stephen would take out taxes from Gloria's share. That seemed a little complex so the parties amended the Property Settlement Agreement and stated that each would receive one-half of Stephen's retirement and they would treat that as alimony paid to Gloria and deducted by Stephen because Stephen would be taxed on the entire amount. The parties still agreed to divide the Martin Marietta Retirement by one-half. That is what paragraph 10 is all amount, to divide the Martin Marietta Retirement by one-half. The parties had divided their other assets by one-half in their Property Settlement Agreement and that is what they did with this asset as well. The Court modified Paragraph 10 of the parties' Property Settlement Agreement to take into consideration Social Security received by Stephen to give part of his Social Security to Gloria. There was never any mention of Social Security in the entire Property Settlement Agreement nor the

i.

ι

Amendment thereto. Gloria is only entitled to one-half of Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement and no more. It is just that simple.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The parties made a Property Settlement Agreement to divide Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement by one-half. Stephen paid more than one-half of his retirement to Gloria after it was reduced on the earliest date that he was eligible for Social Security. The parties knew that the retirement would decrease on the date that Stephen was eligible to receive Social Security and they signed a document that selected that option. (E.7, RE.60) They referenced the option that they chose in their Property Settlement Agreement and stated one-half of that would be paid to Gloria. The relevant portion states:

> The parties have agreed to accept #D-Level Income as the monthly benefit option. This plan will provide the Husband a monthly income of approximately \$3,189.26. The Husband will remit to the Wife one-half of this income, being the approximate amount of \$1,594.63, on the first day of each month to the Wife commencing on January 1, 1993. (E.2, RE46)

The parties knew the amount that Stephen would be receiving at the time he retired. The parties also knew that this would decrease on the earliest date that Stephen was eligible for Social Security. Paragraph 10 of the Amendment states that the parties agreed to Level Income as the monthly befit option, which would provide Husband a monthly income and he would remit to Wife on-half of this income monthly. Clearly the parties intended that Stephen would remit to Gloria one-half of his Martin Marietta Retirement. After all, the parties were trying to divide his Martin Marietta Retirement as they divided all of their other assets. That is, they to divided

ı.

i,

i

his Martin Marietta Retirement by one-half each as they had divided all of their other assets.

The Court accepted parol evidence over the objection of Counsel for Stephen regarding social security for Stephen. Gloria further provided parol evidence regarding how she thought that played into her receiving a level income. That was convenient for her to say at that time so that she would continue to receive the money she had been receiving. The fact is, Gloria signed the application selecting the retirement option for Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement. (E.7, RE.60). Gloria also prepared or her attorney prepared an Amendment to the Property Settlement Agreement agreeing to receive only one-half of Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement. (T.31, RE.80; E.2, RE.46). The Amendment was only for the Martin Marietta Retirement and how to divide it. The Amendment to the Property Settlement Agreement divided the Martin Marietta Retirement by one-half, just as the parties intended to do. The Court allowed parol evidence before it ever found that there was an ambiguity in the Property Settlement Agreement. There is no ambiguity in the Property Settlement Agreement, nor the Amendment thereto. It is clearly stated that Husband will remit one-half of his retirement income to Wife. When you take the Property Settlement Agreement and the Amendment as one agreement, which is what it is, it is easy to see that the parties divided their current assets by one-half. The assets they had at the time they were divorcing they divided by one-half. There is no reference to any assets the parties would have after retirement. There is no reference to Social Security. The parties were dividing their current assets and that is what they did.

11

ί.

ţ

The Court amended, altered or redrafted the amendment to the Property Settlement Agreement. The Court stated that "I just don't see any possible equity in doing it a different way". (T.108, RE.96). The Court went on to state that if it "took all of the current income of the parties and divided it by two, Gloria would be receiving about what she is being paid currently", that is 70% of Stephen's retirement. The Court said he thought she was entitled to that. (T.108, RE.96). The Court further stated that he didn't know any other equitable way to do it but to give Gloria the amount that she is being paid presently. That is 50% of Stephen's retirement when he first retired and not the reduced amount. The Court further stated that it seemed like Gloria anticipated having a level income. The Court said that was the only equitable way he could see it. (T.110, RE.97).

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