IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01013

STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

GLORIA F. REFFALT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE GLORIA F. REFFALT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JIMMY D. MCGUIRE, PLLC

MSP

Post Office Box 808 Waveland, Mississippi 39576 Phone: (228)467-2090

Facsimile: (228) 467-2564

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2010-CA-01013

STEPHEN D. REFFALT, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

GLORIA F. REFFALT

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant Stephen Reffalt, Jr. ("Appellant" or "Stephen") contends that the chancery court committed manifest error by admitting parol evidence to show the intent of the parties regarding the provision of their property settlement agreement (the "Agreement") dividing Stephen's Martin Marietta Retirement ("MM Retirement"). Appellant is wrong.

The Court rendered its ruling from the bench on February 12, 2009. (T. 84-89, RE. 89-94). It is patently untrue, as Appellant asserts, that "the Court never found an ambiguity in the contract" (Appellant's Brief, at 12). In its ruling, the Court stated that the Agreement was subject to differing interpretations. The Agreement was ambiguous with respect to whether the proportion of Stephen's MM Retirement paid to Gloria would increase after Stephen started receiving social security and a smaller monthly MM Retirement amount. After the Court determined as a matter of law that the Agreement was ambiguous, the Court then properly applied Mississippi's three-tiered approach to contract interpretation. As part of its analysis, the Court properly considered extrinsic evidence regarding the intentions of the parties. The Chancellor heard testimony from both Stephen and Gloria Reffalt regarding their discussions at the time they entered into the Agreement, and what each of them believed the Agreement meant.

After hearing testimony of the parties' intent, witnessing the parties' demeanor, and applying the canons of contract construction, the Court made a fair and reasonable interpretation of the Agreement, and rendered its May 7, 2009

Judgment accordingly. The Court interpreted the Agreement such that Gloria would

continue to receive the same amount monthly for MM Retirement money that she had been receiving. The Court's interpretation of the Agreement is based upon substantial evidence, including the fact that Stephen had been paying that amount for years. The Court determined that Gloria would continue to receive an amount that equals fifty percent of Stephen's retirement at the time he first retired, rather than fifty percent of the reduced amount that Stephen currently receives due to his Social Security benefits. The Court also saw it as the most equitable way to interpret the Agreement. (T. 108, RE. 96). The Court found that, even if the contract itself had been less than artfully drafted in making the parties' intentions clear, the parties' intent was that Stephen's Social Security would supplement the MM Retirement due to Gloria, so that Gloria would have a level income throughout Stephen's retirement years. (T. 110, RE. 97).

At an April 16, 2010 hearing on Appellant's Motion to Reconsider the May 7, 2009 Judgment, the Court properly used its discretion in determining what evidence should be considered. On June 4, 2010, the Court rendered a fair and reasonable Order on the Motion to Reconsider, granting the portion of the motion regarding the Performance Sharing Plan, and denying any reconsideration of the amount of MM Retirement to be paid to Gloria.

Appellant can point to no manifest error or errors made by the Court in rendering either the Judgment or the Order on Motion to Reconsider. Appellant's appeal should be denied, and the decrees of the Chancery Court affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that it "will not disturb the findings of a Chancellor unless the Chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Harris v. Harris*, 988 So. 2d 376, 378 (Miss. 2008); *Bell v. Parker*, 563 So. 2d 594, 596-97 (Miss. 1990). If a chancellor's findings are supported by substantial credible evidence in the record, the courts of appeal will not reverse. *Harris*, 988 So. 2d at 378; *Huggins v. Wright*, 774 So. 2d 408, 410 (Miss. 2000). However, a property settlement agreement is a contractual obligation. *Harris*, 988 So. 2d at 378; *East v. East*, 493 So. 2d 927, 931-32 (Miss. 1986). Contract interpretation, as a question of law, is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

Where terms of a contract are ambiguous, the contract will be interpreted in a reasonable manner. We held that it is a question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous. In the event of an ambiguity, the subsequent interpretation presents a question of fact for the trier of fact which we review under a substantial evidence/manifest error standard. Tupelo Redevelopment Agency v. Abernathy, 913 So. 2d 278, 283 (Miss. 2005) also sets out this Court's three-tiered approach to contract interpretation: First, the "four corners" test is applied, wherein the reviewing court looks to the language that the parties used in expressing their agreement. Second, if the court is unable to translate a clear understanding of the parties' intent, the court should apply the discretionary canons of contract construction. Finally, if the contract continues to evade clarity as to the parties' intent, the court should consider extrinsic or parol evidence. It is only when the review of a contract reaches this point that prior negotiations, agreements and conversations might be considered in determining the parties' intentions in the construction of the contract.

Harris, 988 So. 2d at 378-379; see also Wood v. Wood, 35 So. 3d 507, 513 (Miss. 2010) ("This Court historically has recognized that a property settlement agreement

is no different from any other contract, and the mere fact that it is between a divorcing husband and wife, and incorporated in a divorce decree, does not change its character"). See also Wesley M. Breland, Realtor, Inc. v. Amanatidis, 996 So. 2d 176, 179 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) ("if a contract is determined to be ambiguous, it is reviewed on appeal under a substantial evidence/manifest error standard").

Moreover, a limited standard of review is employed in cases involving domestic relations, and the findings of a chancellor will not be disturbed, when supported by substantial evidence, unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied.

Duncan v. Duncan, 774 So. 2d 418, 419 (Miss. 2000).

When [an appellate court] reviews a chancellor's decision in a case involving divorce and all related issues, our scope of review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule." Therefore, we will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or a clearly erroneous standard was applied. With regard to matters dealing with divorce, custody, and child support, we will respect a chancellor's findings of fact which are supported by credible evidence and not manifestly wrong. Further, with regard to the standard of review used when looking at a chancellor's division of property and assets, a chancellor's division and distribution will be upheld if it is supported by substantial credible evidence.

Dorsey v. Dorsey, 972 So. 2d 48, 50-51 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (internal citations omitted). See also Stribling v. Stribling, 906 So. 2d 863, 867-868 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) ("This Court will only reverse a chancery court's findings of fact when there is no substantial credible evidence to support its findings"); Peters v. Peters, 906 So. 2d 64, 72 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) ("Our standard of review of the division and distribution of property in a divorce is limited, and we will affirm the chancellor's decision if it was supported by substantial credible evidence"); McLaurin v.

McLaurin, 853 So. 2d 1279, 1283 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) ("This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor even if this Court disagrees with the lower court on the finding of fact and might . . . [arrive] at a different conclusion"); Markofski v. Holzhauer, 799 So. 2d 162, 165 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) ("When a domestic relations case is on appellate review, a chancellor's factual findings will not be disturbed unless the court's actions were manifestly wrong, the court abused its discretion, or applied an erroneous legal standard").

II. THERE WAS NO MANIFEST ERROR BY THE COURT

A. Because The Court Found As A Matter Of Law That The Property Settlement Agreement Was Ambiguous, The Chancellor Properly Considered Parol Evidence Of The Parties' Intent

In the case at bar, the Court found that the Agreement was ambiguous, and then proceeded to properly apply the three-tier approach to contract construction under Mississippi law, as set forth in Section I, *supra*. The Appellant's argument that the Chancellor did not properly apply the legal standard simply because he did not specifically use the word "ambiguous" in his bench ruling is a fallacy. The Chancellor in his bench ruling stated that he could "draw several different interpretations" from the Agreement (T.86, RE. 91) – and "having more than one possible interpretation or meaning" is the very definition of the word "ambiguous." Moreover, the May 7, 2009 Judgment states that the Agreement was:

... subject to more than one interpretation. By reviewing the history of between 16 and 17 years it appears that both parties were under the belief that the payments were due in the amount of \$1,594.63 was due to be paid by Stephen to Gloria each and every

¹ See, e.g., Oxford English Dictionary Online, 2011, http://oxforddictionaries.com/view/entry/m_en_us1221320#m_en_us1221320: "(1) open to more than one interpretation, having a double meaning (2) unclear or inexact because a choice between alternatives has not been made."

month under the terms on the documents for which they agreed and signed. This is the interpretation this Court finds and directs to be followed.

RE. 37 (emphasis added). Indeed, Appellant's statement that "the Court never found that there was an ambiguity in the contract" is patently absurd. (Appellant's Brief, at 16).

Because the Court did find the Agreement ambiguous, it properly allowed parol evidence to assist it in interpreting Paragraph 10 of the Agreement and the Agreement as a whole. The rule of parol evidence is subject to many exceptions and is said to be very flexible. Valley Mills, Div. of Merchants Company v. Southeastern Hatcheries of Mississippi, Inc., 245 Miss. 71, 145 So.2d 698, 701-2 (1962). The parol evidence rule provides that "parol or extrinsic evidence is not admissible to add to, subtract from, vary or contradict . . . written instruments which . . . are contractual in nature and which are valid, complete, unambiguous and unaffected by accident or mistake." Id. Mississippi recognizes three exceptions to the parol evidence rule: (1) extrinsic evidence will be admitted to show the intent of the parties if the contract is ambiguous or indefinite; (2) parol evidence of a distinct, valid, contemporaneous agreement between the parties, not reduced to writing is admissible if the evidence is not in conflict with the written agreement; and (3) if the written agreement by its own terms refers to discussions between the parties, those discussions are generally admissible. Valley Mills, supra, 245 Miss. at 79-82, 145 So.2d at 702-3.

Here, at least one of the exceptions to the parol evidence rule clearly applies: the Chancellor found that the Agreement was ambiguous and indefinite.

Furthermore, the parol evidence he considered (testimony about the parties' discussions and understanding) is not in conflict with the written Agreement.

Parol evidence of the intention of the parties may be received to clear up an ambiguity by reason of which such intention is not definitely expressed. *Byrd v.*Rees, 251 Miss. 876, 882-884 (Miss. 1965) (affirming decree of trial court after it admitted parol evidence to interpret an ambiguous contract). "[T]he object of all rules of interpretation is to arrive at the intention of the parties as it is expressed in the contract." *Id.* at 884. The Chancellor properly considered parol or extrinsic evidence in determining the intent of the parties.

The Court also properly applied the discretionary canons of contract construction, finding, for example, that the Agreement "was drawn by Gloria Reffalt who was not an attorney and this document was poorly drafted, however the amendment was drawn by an attorney and both parties signed the documents which are subject to more than one interpretation." RE. 38.

B. The Chancellor's Interpretation Of The Property Settlement Agreement Was Reasonable and Based On Substantial Evidence, And Was Founded Upon Concerns For Justice and Equity

The Chancellor's interpretation of the Agreement was reasonable and was based upon substantial evidence, including the testimony of the witnesses and their demeanor, the pattern and practice between the parties (Stephen had actually paid that amount for 16 or 17 years, indicating that Stephen too believed that he owed that amount of money), and the fact that Stephen had claimed that amount on his income tax as the amount he owed. (T. 86, RE. 91.) It was also founded upon concerns for justice and equity.

Harris v. Harris, 988 So. 2d 376 (Miss. 2008) is a case on point. There, the parties had entered into a property settlement agreement in their divorce proceedings, with the husband agreeing to pay reasonable maintenance associated with the marital

home. On review of the chancery court's contempt order against the husband, the court held that the chancery court had properly resolved the ambiguity in the parties' property settlement agreement, under which the wife assumed liability for all debts on the home. The term "debt" was undefined and ambiguous. Because the property settlement did not directly address property taxes, the chancellor turned to the temporary order, which stated that the husband was responsible for taxes on the marital home. Based upon this language, the chancellor determined that the husband bore the responsibility for taxes up until the divorce was finalized.

Appellant argues that, because the Agreement does not expressly refer on its face to the parties' Social Security, the Court is not permitted to construe or interpret any term of the Agreement that relates to Social Security. The argument has no merit. In Harris, just like in the case at hand, the husband had argued that the chancellor did not interpret or enforce the property settlement agreement as a contract. He had also argued, unsuccessfully, that nothing in the plain language of the property settlement, as incorporated into the final divorce decree, could be viewed as agreeing to assume a prorated share of any debt. (The husband had contended that the language "Wife agrees to assume liability for all debts on the aforesaid properties," was completely unambiguous, or if seen as ambiguous, then should be construed against the wife, as she had drafted it.) Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals in *Harris* affirmed the chancery court's finding that the property settlement agreement was ambiguous, and found that the chancery court had properly applied the canons of contract construction to interpret the contract in the wife's favor. The same result should follow here.

Stephen Reffalt's argument that the parties were dividing their current assets in half, valued at the time of the Agreement, without regard to the value of said assets after retirement,² is misplaced. Here, Stephen and Gloria had agreed that the Martin Marietta Retirement would be divided in half, and that the amount of the Retirement would be reduced when Stephen first became eligible for Social Security.

In Wood v. Wood, 35 So. 3d 507 (Miss. 2010), the interpretation of a property settlement agreement and the time of valuation of the assets was at issue. The wife in that case argued that: (1) the property settlement agreement was a valid, unambiguous contract which was not subject to modification or clarification by the chancery court; (2) even if the agreement was subject to contract interpretation, the evidence showed that the parties intended to divide the retirement savings account according to specific dollar amounts; and (3) even if the parties intended to divide the account according to percentages, those percentages should have been calculated as of the date of divorce. The Wood court affirmed the chancellor's conclusion that the husband was to receive 46% of the subject account, and that the account should be valued at a date one year after the divorce, because the choice of that date for the valuation was reasonable and was founded upon concerns for justice and equity. "[The parties' agreement] did not clearly specify the parties' intentions with respect to the distribution of the account, so it was ambiguous. Hence, the chancellor was free to apply the canons of contract construction and consider parol evidence to determine the meaning of [the agreement]." Wood, 35 So. 3d at 513.

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